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“In this well-told story, author Freddy Silva has filled a long-standing need for a real understanding of the Templars’ early history, their search for treasure in the Temple of Solomon, and the creation of an independent Portugal with a Templar knight as king. First Templar Nation is a fascinating contribution to the body of knowledge of the Order.”

STEVEN SORA, AUTHOR OF THE LOST TREASURE OF THE KNIGHTS 
TEMPLAR, THE LOST COLONY OF THE TEMPLARS, AND SECRET SOCIETIES OF 
AMERICA’S ELITE
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AUTHOR’S NOTE

Over a decade of research went into this book, by which time I felt as though I could feel the people and events involved. Which is just as well, because although there are many good books on history, so many are dry and lack a human touch. I have therefore written this work in a style that is closer to that of a novel to make the reading experience more enjoyable for you. However, all the people, events, and facts portrayed are true, as the copious bibliography will testify.

If you are not familiar with the geography of Europe, do not be troubled; I have included numerous maps to help you keep track of where you are.

Just a few points to bear in mind: In this era Europe is a cornucopia of duchies, counties, and kingdoms. There is no Spain, no Italy, and France is still fragmented and mostly made up of autonomous duchies and provinces, including the kingdom of the Franks; Germany is part of the Holy Roman Empire. And in place of today’s Portugal there is the county of Portucale, named after its main city, Porto. So whenever I refer to France or French or Spanish I use the terms as generalizations and to avoid lengthy explanations.

Provinces often pledged allegiance to a neighboring king or duke. Thus, a suzerain was a sovereign or state having control of another state that was internally autonomous. A vassal was a person or country subordinate to another. A fief was land held under a nobleman’s sphere of control or a person under such control.

People’s names were often spelled in different ways and different languages. I have tried to keep most names as they would have generally appeared in the twelfth century, except where they cause confusion in the text.

As for the Knights Templar, the terms Procurator, Commander, Preceptor, Master, and Brother were regularly used terms referring to members of the Order in Europe. All were subordinate to the Grand Master, Hugues de Payns.
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If one does not understand how the body he wears came to be, he will perish with it . . . whoever does not understand how he came will not understand how he will go.

GOSPEL OF TRUTH, NAG HAMMADI LIBRARY

I pray to the end of the universe and the beginning of the beginning, to the object of man’s quest, the immortal discovery.

DISCOURSE ON THE EIGHTH AND THE NINTH, NAG HAMMADI LIBRARY
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1125. AN OAK TABLE IN A LARGE HALL IN A SMALL COUNTY NAMED PORTUGALE . . .

The aged velum parchment is a donation of a small town near the city of Braga.

It reads, “I, Queen D. Tereja give to God and the Knights of the Temple of Solomon the village called Fonte Arcada . . . with all its rights and benefits, for the good of my soul.”1

The generous donation includes no less than seventeen additional land grants by local families.2 Meticulously written in pen and ink, it is signed, “I, Guilherme, Procurator of the Temple in this territory, receive this document.”

The signatory holds the key to a mystery. As Procurator of the Temple, Guilherme Ricard is invested with the power and authority to conduct transactions on behalf of the Grand Master of the Knights Templar in Jerusalem, Hugues de Payns. But he is much more than that. His name appears on a second grant—this time as Magister Donus Ricardus—for half the estate of Villa-nova, donated by Affonso Annes “to God, and the brotherhood of the Knights Templar.”3

This Guilherme Ricard is also the first Master of the Knights Templar in a small county named Portugale.4

These events are extraordinary because the year is 1125 and no members of the Knights Templar are known to exist outside Jerusalem, least of all in a region on the opposite side of Europe. Stranger still, in 1111, seven years before the Templar brotherhood came into existence, the knights were awarded a strategic property in this same territory.

Three things are certain.

One: the Knights Templar pledged allegiance not to the pope but to an influential monk in the French county of Champagne.

Two: in a document addressing the Templars, a young man destined to be king of a land that will be known as Portugal reveals that “within your Brotherhood and in all your works I am a Brother.”

And three: during interrogation by the Holy Inquisition, a Templar knight made a cryptic statement: “There exists in the Order a law so extraordinary on which such a secret should be kept, that any knight would prefer his head cut off rather than reveal it to anyone.”

And virtually all captured Templars proved this by being burned alive at the stake.

What follows is the true and untold story behind the first Templar nation.
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1095. NOVEMBER. IN THE AUVERGNE, A MOUNTAINOUS REGION IN CENTRAL FRANCE . . .

The growing assembly of abbots, bishops, archbishops, princes, nobles, lords, and laymen gathered inside the great church hall in Clermont and awaited the arrival of the pope. When they finally caught sight of his tonsured head ambling down the aisle, it was clear that Urban II was less than happy. The long year of touring had carried the pontiff to several French and Mediterranean regions, then to northern Italy, where an ecclesiastical conclave at Piacenza tested his patience and the results were far from what he had expected. And besides, Piacenza in the spring had been far more climatically rewarding than the bitter November cold of Clermont, in this the year of our Lord 1095.

Urban II rose from his seat and addressed the council, beginning with his report on the church’s situation in the Near East. Aside from the problem of the Seljuk Turks having overrun Asia Minor and seizing control of much of the Levant—including the city of Jerusalem—these troublesome people had also shut off access to the Christian holy places, contrary to their more tolerant Arab predecessors.

And he was not finished. Urban also had a problem with the Christians. He had seen clerics trafficking in church property, nobles and monarchs, at home and abroad, who, wallowing in luxury, constantly violated the laws of the church on peace by picking fights with Arabs purely for material gain. And as for their knights, well, they were behaving more like mercenaries.
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After his rant—some would argue a justifiable one—Urban worked up enough zeal among the assembled throng to initiate a crusade and reclaim the Christian holy places from the infidels and thus channel all this destructive energy into something worth fighting for: “I, or rather, the Lord, beseech you as Christ’s heralds to publish this everywhere and to pursue all people of whatever rank, foot-soldiers and knights, poor and rich, to carry aid promptly to those Christians and to destroy that vile race from the lands of our friends. I say this to those who are present, it is meant also for those who are absent. Moreover, Christ commands it.”1

Having warmed up, the pope then made his way out of the church, ascended a wooden platform, and began to address an even larger gathering whose numbers had strained the available meeting area of the Champet and the services the town was able to provide: “This land which you inhabit, shut in on all sides by the seas and surrounded by the mountain peaks, is too narrow for your large population; nor does it abound in wealth; and it furnishes scarcely food enough for its cultivators. Hence it is that you murder one another, that you wage war, and that frequently you perish by mutual wounds. Let therefore hatred depart from among you, let your quarrels end, let wars cease, and let all dissensions and controversies slumber. Enter upon the road to the Holy Sepulcher, wrest that land from the wicked race, and subject it to yourselves . . . God has conferred upon you above all nations great glory in arms. Accordingly undertake this journey for the remission of your sins, with the assurance of the imperishable glory of the Kingdom of Heaven.”2

Shouts of “Deus vult, Deus vult” rose agreeably above the frozen fields of Clermont.3 “God wills it, God wills it.” Soon this would fester into a purulent propaganda slogan for the recruitment of thousands of foot soldiers.

Despite the languid air, Urban’s motivational speech seemed to be having a far more resuscitating effect than it had had back in Piacenza. So he continued, with an added flourish of rabble-rousing: “They overturn and desecrate our altars . . . they will take a Christian, cut open his stomach, and tie his intestine to a stake; then stabbing at him with a spear, they will make him run, until he pulls out his own entrails and falls dead on the ground.”4

The pope then employed bait guaranteed to rally the swelling of participants to his cause.

All who die by the way, whether by land or by sea, or in battle against the pagans, shall have immediate remission of sins. This I grant them through the power of God with which I am invested. O what a disgrace if such a despised and base race, which worships demons, should conquer a people which has the faith of omnipotent God and is made glorious with the name of Christ! With what reproaches will the Lord overwhelm us if you do not aid those who, with us, profess the Christian religion! Let those who have been accustomed unjustly to wage private warfare against the faithful now go against the infidels and end with victory this war which should have been begun long ago. Let those who for a long time, have been robbers, now become knights. Let those who have been fighting against their brothers and relatives now fight in a proper way against the barbarians. Let those who have been serving as mercenaries for small pay now obtain the eternal reward. Let those who have been wearing themselves out in both body and soul now work for a double honor. Behold! On this side will be the sorrowful and poor, on that, the rich; on this side, the enemies of the Lord, on that, his friends. Let those who go not put off the journey, but rent their lands and collect money for their expenses; and as soon as winter is over and spring comes, let them eagerly set out on the way with God as their guide.5

Curiously, for all of the pope’s talk addressing the liberation of the Holy Lands, including his letters that followed, hardly any mention was made of two of its most important holy places. The chronicler Fulcher de Chartres, who was present during the speech at Clermont, makes no mention of Urban II discussing the liberation of Jerusalem or its holiest temple, the Church of the Holy Sepulcher—the site of Christ’s burial—only of him asking to “aid promptly those Christians and to destroy that vile race [the Turks] from the lands of our friends.”6

But exactly how much aid did those Christians need? Following the conquest of Palestine by the Arabs in AD 637, only a quarter of Jerusalem, including the Church of the Holy Sepulcher, was left in the hands of Christians. Naturally, this only swelled the numbers of Christian pilgrims to this and other sites associated with the life of the avatar Jeshua ben Joseph, otherwise known as Jesus. However, not only was access to the sacred sites allowed and maintained under the Arabs, Christian worship was tolerated too; even Mohammed directed his followers to face the site of Solomon’s Temple during prayer,7 for it was also respected by Muslims as a place of great sacredness. This tolerance prevailed into the tenth century under the caliphs of Egypt, who solemnly promised protection for travelers. In fact, life under the infidel was not as tough as expected; even the tax burden was lighter than under previous Christian rule.

But in 1065 this optimistic picture changed when the Arabs’ unruly Turkish neighbors, led by the barbaric Emir Ortok, conquered and plundered the city of God, whereupon three thousand citizens were massacred. Ortok violently suppressed any remaining Christians, and then for sport imprisoned or killed visiting pilgrims unless each paid one piece of gold as the price of admission into the Church of the Holy Sepulcher.

That is assuming any pilgrim even reached the city alive. Due to the political destabilization, bands of lawless brigands roamed the plains of Palestine seeking hapless tourists, while Bedouin horsemen led desultory attacks on pilgrims from beyond the River Jordan. Not surprisingly, such behavior engendered strong sympathy and fervor from many of the European bishops and barons stirred by Urban II’s impassioned speech to assemble vast armies on a crusade to wrestle formerly Christian sites from the Seljuk Turks and give safe passage to pilgrims.

And yet for all the pope’s rhetoric, there may have been those present who perceived an ulterior motive. Five months earlier, one of the few highlights at the Council of Piacenza—at least for Urban II—was the reception by the pope of envoys sent from Constantinople by Emperor Commenus. The Byzantine emperor had a big problem: for a number of years the Turks had been eating away at his empire, having already gobbled up most of Anatolia, Syria, and Palestine. The council proved a most opportune moment for Commenus: Urban was close by, geographically speaking, and seven years earlier, this promising new pope had overturned Commenus’s excommunication from the church. So the portents looked fortuitous for another small favor from one of Commenus’s few friends, particularly if it included dispatching an army of new knights by way of Constantinople.

Commenus was a shrewd manipulator. His ambassadors not only exaggerated the need for an army, but just in case the pope faltered, they also were to remind him that Jerusalem was presently under restrictive Seljuk control, with the rights of visitation of pilgrims at stake. In any event, Urban’s performance at Clermont succeeded beyond both men’s wildest dreams, and within months tens of thousands volunteered to rid the Near East of Turks and recapture the holy places.
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The Council of Clermont.
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One person who required little excuse to embark on this Crusade was an ardent monk of small stature from Amiens named Peter the Hermit. In his lifetime Peter had been a soldier and a married father of five children, as well as a noble and a vassal of Count Eustache of Boulogne.8 And yet Peter renounced everything to become a reclusive monk, except for the one time he made a pilgrimage to Jerusalem. He was horrified at the treatment of pilgrims there, so much so that he was granted an audience with Simeon, the city’s patriarch, during which Peter promised to canvass nobles across the whole of Europe, even the pope, on his behalf: “I shrink not from taking upon me a task for the salvation of my soul; and with the help of the Lord I am ready to go and seek out all of them, solicit them, show unto them the immensity of your troubles, and pray them all to hasten on the day of your relief.”9

Simeon could hardly turn down such an offer of help, especially given Peter’s character references. His contemporary Guibert de Nogent said of him:

His outside made but a very poor appearance; yet superior powers swayed this miserable body; he had a quick intellect and a penetrating eye, and he spoke with ease and fluency. We saw him at that time scouring city and town, and preaching everywhere; the people crowded round him, heaped presents upon him, and celebrated his sanctity by such great praises that I remember not that like honor was ever rendered to any other person. He displayed great generosity in the disposal of all things that were given him. He restored wives to their husbands, not without the addition of gifts from himself, and he re-established, with marvellous authority, peace and good understanding between those who had been at variance. In all that he did or said he seemed to have in him something divine.10
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Peter the Hermit.

So generous was Peter the Hermit to the poor and so honored for his great piety was he that even the hairs of his mule were plucked as holy relics.

Encouraged by Peter’s eagerness, Simeon accepted the pilgrim’s offer and handed him some letters prior to his departure.

Peter, dressed in his woolen tunic and serge cloak, with arms and feet bare, succeeded in meeting with Urban II in Rome and handed him Simeon’s letters discussing the dire situation in the Holy Land. This was just the beginning of his recruitment drive along the arduous route back to the French lands. Years of errant preaching while living on nothing but a little bread, wine, and some fish finally paid off, and on this frigid November afternoon in Clermont he now stood on a sturdy wooden platform beside Urban II.

The frail hermit spoke first, his skin and skeleton precariously held together by his zeal, but still he addressed the open space, now carpeted by an endless ragtag army of followers whom he had converted to march on the Holy Land. Guibert de Nogent would comment that Peter looked much like his donkey and smelled considerably worse. Peter shared with the crowd the tortures, tribulations, miseries, and humiliations suffered by the Christian pilgrims, himself included, at the hands of the Turks.

“God wills it, God wills it.”

There was little left for Urban II to stoke the fervor of the mob aside from an obviously overpatriotic speech capped by a unique selling proposition: “Take ye, then, the road to Jerusalem for the remission of your sins, and depart assured of the imperishable glory which awaits you in the kingdom of heaven.”

“God wills it, God wills it.”
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Pope Urban II.

Drunk on hope and religion, it is doubtful that few remained behind in the freezing drizzle to hear the coordinated date of departure for the entire Crusade, which was to be led by knights and commence the following August on the Feast of the Assumption. Or for that matter, to take in the final portion of Urban’s speech, requesting restraint: “We ordain not, and we advise not, that the journey be undertaken by the old or the weak, or such as be not suited for arms, and let not women set out without their husbands or their brothers . . . and no layman shall commence the march save with the blessing of his pastor.”11

But in times characterized by an economy based on plunder, the promise of a remission of sins and the glory of the kingdom of heaven was sufficient to incite three armies combining some 120,000 poorly equipped peasants. No sooner was the winter snow replaced by spring than in March 1096 central Europe was one long, unprepared, unorganized swarm of men, women, children, farmers, even the infirm, marching in three, sometimes five “armies” of nonmilitary personnel. Peter the Hermit headed one. A second was led by another colorful character, a former lord from the Île-de-France who, like Peter, sought a truer, mystical experience of God and thus renounced his worldly possessions to march to Jerusalem. He would be known as Walter the Penniless.

This was the People’s Crusade.

Along the punishing road east to Constantinople many inquired desperately upon arriving at every new village, “Is this Jerusalem?”
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1096. AUGUST. CONSTANTINOPLE, CAPITAL OF THE HOLY ROMAN EMPIRE . . .

It was a miracle, and Emperor Commenus rubbed his hands with glee at the sight of it: a vast column of people approaching the city. Here at last, the reward for his efforts to prize out of the pope a fresh army that would certainly restore his faded power over a dwindling empire.

But this sublime vision of a mighty and shining fighting force slowly decayed as one after another of thousands of soiled, unsanitary, and hungry peasants pressed up to the city gate, expecting hospitality from the Holy Roman emperor.

This was not an army of knights but of locusts.

The trouble with a large mass of disorganized medieval zealots marching from village to village on little more than a vision of hope and the charity of local villagers is that no leadership can adequately provide for their physical needs, and by the time the People’s Crusade had crossed Hungary it was not just taking charity so much as devouring it. Many resorted to pilfering from the initially hospitable Christian populations, eventually turning to stealing local wives, raping women, burning granaries, and generally embarking on plunder, some of it at the behest of one of the “leaders,” Count Emerico, who “himself took part in the plunder and incited his comrades to crime.”1
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They murdered four thousand in Hungary alone before setting the Serbian city of Belgrade ablaze. But not before looting it.

Commenus saw nothing but having to provide sustenance for a band of paupers, vagabonds, and opportunists. The city gates remained firmly bolted, and the People’s Crusade made do by pitching tents outside the insurmountable walls.
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Emperor Commenus.

Weeks of idleness ensued, and with their noses pressed to the window of riches inside Constantinople, the pilgrims took to pillaging homes on the outskirts of the capital. Despite the very best efforts of Peter the Hermit and Walter the Penniless to set examples of decorum, brigandage replaced discipline: “They were not held back by the decency of the people of the province, nor were they mollified by the Emperor’s affability, but they behaved very insolently, wrecking palaces, burning public buildings, tearing the roofs off churches that were covered with lead, and then offering to sell the lead back to the Greeks.”2

A seething Commenus eventually made the sensible decision to gather provisions and deliver his capital from this swarm, even furnishing the People’s Crusade with boats to take them across the narrow strait of the Bosphorus and into Anatolia.

And off his hands.
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1096. AUGUST. WITH THE NORTHERN ARMY, PREPARING TO DEPART . . .

The Feast of the Assumption came soon enough for the thousands of knights persuaded either by conscience or Urban II’s rhetoric to stand in the fields of Lorraine and Flanders, adjusting their equipment and waiting the order that would propel a vast column of fighting men toward the Holy Land. The bright August sunshine flittering across their chain mail was a good omen.

En route they were to rendezvous with three other armies of similarly inspired men marching from separate locations throughout Europe, amalgamating at Constantinople to form a fighting unit of four thousand knights and thirty thousand infantrymen. Unlike the People’s Crusade, this northern branch of the crusading army was led by Flemish nobles who commanded discipline—three brothers of Merovingian bloodline, sons of Eustace II, Count of Boulogne.1 The youngest, Baudoin de Boulogne, was a student of the liberal arts; then there was Eustace III, who had inherited the title of Count of Boulogne after his father’s death; and finally, tall, blond, bearded, and pious, a model knight named Godefroi de Bouillon.

A chronicler of the Crusades named Raoul of Caen described Godefroi thus: “The lustre of nobility was enhanced in his case by the splendor of the most exalted virtues, as well in affairs of the world as of heaven. As to the latter, he distinguished himself by his generosity towards the poor, and his pity for those who had committed faults. Furthermore, his humility, his extreme gentleness, his moderation, his justice, and his chastity were great; he shone as a light amongst the monks, even more than as a duke amongst the knights.”
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And just as well, because being the second of three brothers, Godefroi stood to inherit little and was thus afforded fewer advantages in life. That is until his uncle Godefroi the Hunchback (son of Godefroi the Bearded) died without an heir and bequeathed the lordship of Bouillon to his young, enlightened nephew.

As the crusading armies threaded their way through the kingdoms of central Europe, they encountered a populace browbeaten but wiser from the marauding behavior of their forerunners, the People’s Crusade. Aside from a few skirmishes with the Greeks and an incident in Hungary—in which Baudoin volunteered to be held in ransom by the king to ensure the proper conduct of the armies through his territory—things generally went smoothly.

By November 1096, Godefroi de Bouillon and his mounted knights and infantrymen were within reach of Constantinople when they came under sporadic harassment by troops that later turned out to have been sent by Emperor Commenus. Perhaps after his experience of the People’s Crusade the emperor had become suspicious of the help Urban II was sending his way; furthermore, the presence in the arriving army of the emperor’s old nemesis, Prince Bohemund, did little to appease Commenus’ paranoia.

Nevertheless, within four months all the Crusaders combined at the gates of Constantinople. They required sustenance and expected this simple courtesy from Commenus.

Commenus made promises and then broke them. Advances were betrayed by hostility, further irritating the soldiers. Then he demanded their sworn obedience and fealty. When he received neither he attempted to subdue them by famine while lavishing great feasts on selective knights—a potential candidate for multiple personality disorder. But the year was drawing to a close and winter called. Finally the Crusaders had had enough and resorted to plundering the countryside.

The year 1097 arrived, and still Anatolia beckoned the Crusaders from across the narrow waterway of the Bosphorus. The rocky chasm separating Europe from the East perfectly reflected the impasse between the knights and their neurotic host.

It was at this point that Godefroi de Bouillon must have detected an ulterior motive behind the pope’s push for a Crusade. As far as this knight was concerned, his intent was to march to Jerusalem, liberate the Church of the Holy Sepulcher, and reestablish the accord between Christians and Arabs, even if it meant a fragile one. It was a clear plan, yet Commenus provided nothing but obstacles; in fact, he now demanded an oath of obedience from the nobles in charge of the armies. To all intents and purposes, the Crusade appeared like an opportunistic accord between the pope and the Holy Roman emperor to commandeer soldiers and rid the Turks from the emperor’s lands.

For Godefroi, the reality of the situation was that tens of thousands of men needed to be ferried across the Bosphorus. They could build their own ships for the short hop, but that would take months. Commenus knew this; he also owned all the vessels in Constantinople. The only way forward was diplomacy and compromise, so Godefroi and the nobles convened with the emperor, whereupon the ever-scheming Commenus proposed a modified oath. In return for the ferrying of troops into Turkish territory the army leaders agreed to assist him by marching on the city of Nicaea, attack the Turks in their stronghold, and liberate the city in the name of Christendom. Godefroi grudgingly agreed to the modified oath; Raimond—another leader of the army—told Commenus politely to go stuff himself, but at least gave a pledge not to attack him.

And so it was that by the spring of 1097 the Crusaders finally made landfall in Anatolia with the help of the emperor’s ships. However, even as Godefroi’s army prepared to lay siege to Nicaea, they discovered Commenus had made a secret treaty with the Turks, in which the surrender of the city was ensured to the emperor, thus making it look as though his Byzantine army, not the Crusaders, had won the conflict.
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Godefroi and the other leaders of the Crusade.

Following the betrayal, Godefroi and his brothers, along with their respective Crusading armies, turned south toward Jerusalem and resumed their original intent.
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1098. ON THE DESERT ROAD NEAR ANTIOCH . . .

In the distance they resembled blackened matchsticks shimmering in the heat rising off the arid plains of the Levant. By the time the crusading knights caught up with them in Syria, the remnants of the People’s Crusade numbered less than ten percent of the original desperate souls who had ventured out from the Frankish kingdoms.

The stories were gruesome. Priests traveling among them provoked the pilgrims by suggesting the Turks swallowed their valuables so as to conceal them from robbers, so whenever they captured one, the pilgrims cut open his belly and eager fingers probed among bloody intestines for hidden treasure.

The pilgrims were butchered in turn by the equally barbaric Turks. Those captured alive were placed in town squares and used for target practice by archers. Those who survived were returned to the desert, where they resorted on occasion to drinking their own urine. Or starved to death.

As for Peter the Hermit, his zeal had finally been foreshortened by the Turks, who tortured him. Godefroi de Bouillon was pleased enough just to find him still alive. The knight dismounted his horse, hugged the emaciated evangelist like a long-lost friend, and had him nursed back to some sort of health.
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During his convalescence Peter recounted in lurid detail “how the people, who had preceded them under his guidance, had shown themselves destitute of intelligence, improvident, and unmanageable at the same time; and so it was far more by their own fault than by the deed of any other that they had succumbed to the weight of their calamities.”1 His vigor renewed, the monk continued the journey with Godefroi’s army on the remaining miles of dirt, sand, and rock still standing between them and Jerusalem.

That Godefroi himself appears to have marched to the Holy Land with his own objective right from the start was evident in his engagements with the Turks, for although his role in the army was important, his involvement in the battles and skirmishes in the Levant was minor. And battles there were aplenty.
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The remnants of the People’s Crusade.

Writing to his wife in France, the knight Étienne Henri de Blois was hopeful that the remaining three hundred miles to Jerusalem would take a mere five weeks to cover.2 In reality it took the Crusaders two years before they finally caught a glimpse of the city they had so persevered to reach.
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140 BC. IN A LAND IN WESTERN IBERIA CALLED LUSITANIA . . .

A previously unstoppable Julius Caesar was vexed: “There exists a civilization in the northern confines of Iberia who refuses to govern itself and will not allow itself to be governed.”1 The tribe giving him and subsequent Roman legions two hundred years of aggravation was the Lusitani, a Celtic tribe whose name translates as “people of the light of Ani.”

Ani is one of the primary deities of the Celtic world, a variant of the Sumerian goddess Inanna. In later incarnations she reappears as Saint Anne, grandmother of Jesus. Regardless of her many derivatives—Ana, Anu, Annan, Danu, Dana—she was considered the mother of the gods. Her influence is still reflected in the origin of place names throughout Europe, such as the river Danube, or the Paps of Anu, the fabled sacred hills of Ireland, once venerated by another legendary Celtic race, the Tuadhe d’Anu, the “people of Anu.” Like so many ancient races, the Tuadhe are said to have introduced mathematics, agriculture, the arts, and music; they possessed the fine gift of temperament and knowledge that gave them control over the forces of nature, and such attributes had them compared to gods.

The head of the Lusitani, Viriato, was celebrated as a Celtiberian leader possessing the noblest ancient virtues. He was honest, fair, and faithful to his word, and his brilliant strategizing won many wars against overwhelming Roman forces—to the point where recruitment in the legions dropped significantly.2 Only through betrayal did the Romans finally become masters of this fiercely independent patch of soil on the cusp of Europe and the Atlantic. Suffice it to say that a deep-seated resentment, nay hatred, of most things Roman persists to this day in the DNA of its inhabitants.
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Viriato.

The Lusitani were also an incredibly spiritual people. They believed in the survival of the soul, in the Otherworld, and that in certain parts of the land there exists a special force that can be harnessed to connect with domains existing beyond the five senses. Such beliefs would find a continuum in that most Celtic of priesthoods, the Druids, who also found a home in Lusitania, as well as Galicia to the north; as did a Celtic tribe in the region of Denmark named Burgundii, who in time would lend their name to the French province of Burgundy.

The Druids shared something else in common with the Lusitani: they were loathed and feared in equal amounts by Julius Caesar, and he made it his mission in life to obliterate both.

After the Romans came, saw, conquered, and inevitably lost, Lusitania changed name and allegiance numerous times depending on the political wind of the month. Mountainous regions are like that: independent of mind, autonomous of spirit, stubborn to the core. Yet by the ninth century AD the political landscape began to stabilize—or comparatively so given that these were the turbulent Dark Ages—and it did so around a village appropriately named Cale.

Cale was located at the mouth of the River Douro (River of Gold), which flows into the Atlantic Ocean in the north of what is today Portugal. The Trojans were possibly one of the first groups to settle in Cale, for the name derives from the Greek word kallis (beautiful), referring to the sinuous beauty of the fertile Douro valley. Given how the Trojans did pass through this region on their journey to Britain, the hypothesis is a sound one.3Cale is also an ethnonym derived from the Celtic tribe who settled in the area, the Callaici, whose own name derives from the source of their veneration, the goddess Cailleach, still to this day present in Irish lore. Thus the Callaici or Gallaeci associated their name with their estuary home, which expanded into Porto Cale (beautiful harbor).4

Their name is also found in nearby regions of note: Gaia, Galicia, and later, the gal in Portugal.5 But we are getting ahead of ourselves.

With the evaporation of the Lusitanians and the Romans, local history becomes as easy to explain as the traffic pattern inside a mound of termites. In brief, northwestern Iberia was generally known as Galicia. Sometime around the year 848 AD, between the many conquests and reconquests that characterize the fluid stability of this region, Porto Cale expands from a mere port into the region of Portucale, a strip of coastal land between the rivers Douro and Minho. The territory of Portucale then spends some two hundred years extricating itself from the yoke of Galicia; first it comes under sole governorship by 950 AD, then is governed as a fief until 1050, but twenty years later it is reincorporated into the kingdom of Galicia. Then around 1083, just to add more ingredients to this complex stew, two cousins from the House of Burgundy arrive on horseback from Dijon.

The two noble knights—Henri and his distant but far more ambitious cousin Raimond, son of Guillaume the Great, Count of Burgundy—rode into northern Iberia at the request of Alfonso VI, king of Castilla e León, Galicia e Portucale. Nicknamed “the Brave,” Alfonso VI had given himself the thankless task of integrating all the disparate Spanish kingdoms, half of which were currently under Muslim rule, as were parts of his own provinces. But although this required battling with Saracens, Moors, and other Arabs, Alfonso VI appears to have been somewhat enlightened as a ruler, for he made no generalized judgments about his enemies. He still offered protection to Muslims in his territory, minted coins in Arabic, and admitted to his bed the refugee Muslim princess Zaida de Seville.

Alfonso’s instructions to the knights Henri and Raimond were straightforward: recapture the parts of Galicia and Portucale that had been stolen by the Moors. Which the two would do admirably, with both Burgundians earning a great reputation for services rendered over the course of eight years by reconquering territory all the way south to the river Tejo, including the city of Lisbon.

As a token of his appreciation to Raimond, Alfonso the Brave offered his daughter Urraca’s hand in marriage and bestowed on him the government of Galicia as a personal fief.

As for the equally brave Henri—a descendent of the Frankish kings in the male line, great-grandson of King Robert I, son of Duke Henri of Burgundy, and nephew of Alfonso’s second wife—he received the hand in marriage of Alfonso’s illegitimate daughter Dona Tareja, along with a dowry of lands in Castilla.

In any other era this would have seemed a straightforward arrangement, but this being the eleventh century, even one’s own family could not be trusted, and no sooner had Raimond joined Urraca in matrimony than his father-in-law discovered their ambition to expand their newly acquired Galician territory. And so Alfonso the Brave designed a cunning plan to thwart this, by awarding Henri and Tareja a slice of an adjacent territory—the county of Portucale—which at that moment was under the suzerainty of Raimond. Essentially, Alfonso would undermine the pretensions of his more ambitious son-in-law by making Raimond an immediate neighbor of his cousin Henri, while establishing both their territories as dependencies of his own kingdom of Castilla e León.

And finally some sense of order comes to bear on the region.

At least for now.
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Meanwhile, the summer of 1096 was in full bloom, and over in the Flemish kingdoms and French duchies, including Burgundy, armies were assembling, saddling up and heading east on the arduous Crusade to the Holy Land. As news of this most noble enterprise reached Alfonso VI, the Spanish king unreservedly vowed to make a personal contribution, but with the Moors making constant incursions into his kingdom, even retaking Lisbon, Alfonso was otherwise too occupied with his own campaigns at home to venture overseas. Instead, he would send help to the First Crusade by way of his trusted son-in-law Henri, who would act on his behalf.6

Here, family relationships worked in Henri’s favor (Alfonso’s second wife was also Burgundian), not to mention his upbringing within the enlightened House of Burgundy. In this era, the duchy of Burgundy was the epicenter of a renaissance, the commercial and intellectual crossroads of Europe, and since Henri and Alfonso were alumni of its liberal circle, both men no doubt shared intellectual bonds as well as a common view of the world. In return for his commitment to sail the 2,500 miles to Jerusalem—and partly to keep cousin Raimond under control—Henri’s newly acquired father-in-law further granted him full governorship of the port city of Porto Cale and its surrounding territory.7

For a man who had been born a younger son, and thus stood to achieve little wealth or inheritance by title, Henri of Burgundy did well for himself. Upon acquiring the ancient land of the Lusitanians he was awarded the title of count and took to his new estate of mountains, moorland, coastline, and forests with enthusiasm, adopting the local customs, learning the Portuguese language, even changing his name to Count Dom Henrique as a mark of respect. Rather than staying in the city of Porto Cale, he settled instead for the verdurous hills and the inland city of Guimarães—by his time already venerated as a place of pilgrimage—whereupon he granted a charter for the city and effectively established a de facto capital for the county of Portucale.

With the affairs of state in order, Henri/Dom Henrique paused briefly to enjoy his new and wonderful life before making preparations to embark on the long voyage to Palestine, with the aim of liberating the Church of the Holy Sepulcher.8 Little did he know that his decision would mark a pivotal moment in the history of Portucale, for the people he’d meet in Jerusalem would shape the destiny of this territory.

Dom Henrique set sail from Porto Cale en route to Genoa on the northern Italian coast and joined forces with one of the Crusader armies—most likely the one led by the son of the French king9—then continued with the fleet to the ancient port of Jaffa, disembarking 33 miles to the west of the gates of Jerusalem. His timing could not have been better, coinciding as it did with the arrival of the Crusaders presently descending on the city from the north, dusty from months of the laborious march through the Levant.10

Count Dom Henrique’s adventure is rarely acknowledged in history, and yet his travels to Palestine are asserted by a chronicler of the Cistercian Order, who also noted how the count was accompanied by a Portuguese monk from the Hermitage of Saint Julian.11 Further support for this voyage comes from foreign sources—not all of them supporters of the Portuguese at that—such as Father Zapater, chronicler of the Cistercian Order in the Spanish court of Aragon.12 A later account by a member of the Templar Order goes so far as to state that Dom Henrique “was known by Pope Urban II who named him as one of the twelve leaders of that sacred expedition.”13

And there’s more. The Cistercian monks were consummate scribblers. They wrote copious volumes chronicling the events of their day, and in one account they state that while in Palestine Dom Henrique “venerated the Sacred Places,” and in return for his faithful assistance, a grateful king of Jerusalem—a Flemish knight—gave him custody of various holy relics, including the lance used at Christ’s crucifixion, samples of the crown of thorns, and the cloak of Mary Magdalene.

By the end of 1099 this same king dispatched Dom Henrique back to Portucale. Upon arrival, he promptly rode to the city of Braga, accompanied by Gerard, the soon-to-be French archbishop of that city, whereupon they placed said holy relics inside its main church.

Dom Henrique subsequently spent the next couple of years traveling between the city of Coimbra (to administer to the affairs of state) and his court in Guimarães (to attend to his neglected wife, Tareja), before embarking on a second voyage to Palestine in 1103, again with the Genoese fleet, this time accompanied by Dom Mauricio, French bishop of Coimbra,14 together with Guido of Lusitania and other nobles of the region.15 Three years later Dom Henrique and the bishop are back in Coimbra, as evidenced by the count’s signature on a document.16 So, not only do the accounts place the ever-journeying Count of Portucale in Jerusalem at the time of the Crusade—twice—they also provide another revelation: they list by name the Flemish knight, king of Jerusalem, who originally handed him the religious artifacts for safekeeping in Portucale, for in the description of the movements of Count Dom Henrique it is written that “his valor was esteemed by Godefroi, King of Jerusalem.”17
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Count Dom Henrique.

Which begs the question: What exactly transpired at the siege of Jerusalem, and how did a Flemish knight of average social rank attain the highest seat of power in the city of God?
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1099. JUNE. OUTSIDE THE GATES OF JERUSALEM . . .

The outline of the city shimmered and refracted in the searing heat of the summer sun. Soldiers openly wept at the sight of this divine apparition, the mirage now only too real. And although they had fared better than the poorly organized People’s Crusade, only about twelve thousand of the original thirty-four thousand Crusaders reached their intended destination.1

The terrain surrounding the hilltop city was arid from the relentless heat. Men were thirsty and hungry and insufficient in number to lay siege. All-out assault was the only choice.

Five weeks later the city walls remained resilient and impervious to all attacks. Better news arrived on June 17 when ships from Genoa anchored at Jaffa to provide the leaders of the armies with skilled engineers and, critically, with the expertise to built siege engines made from timber cannibalized from their own vessels.2 The sultry air made haste impossible, until news of impending Arab reinforcements marching from Egypt motivated the Crusaders to act. With one final effort they hurled every projectile at the city walls from the north and south until the stones protecting Jerusalem finally relented. The prize was theirs.
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Crusaders upon first sighting Jerusalem.

The conduct of the victors over the vanquished very much depended on who was in charge of which army, and atrocities, as in any war, became standard practice, “the juxtaposition of extreme violence and anguished faith.”3 The air of disgust from some Crusaders was impaled on the odor of depravity of the rest, but the same was true of the Arabs, who massacred all the captives they had held prisoner inside a mosque.

A week after the adrenalin of war subsided, a council was held in the refreshing interior of the Church of the Holy Sepulcher on July 22, the feast day of Mary Magdalene, to deliberate on the election of a king for Jerusalem. Of all the leaders whose names were volunteered, one stood above the others by seniority alone: Comte Raimond de Toulouse, highly admired as a fighter and the first to volunteer for the Crusade back on that fateful November day in Clermont. But in the end the votes were awarded to the one man who had not sought any. By his own deeds Godefroi de Bouillon had proven himself to be valiant, discreet, worthy, and modest. His own servants, in private counsel, testified to his “possession of the virtues which are put in practice without any show.” His ideals for the common man impressed even the Arab sheiks, who marveled at the modesty of the Flemish prince, for when they came to make offerings to Godefroi they were surprised by a royal tent bereft of silk and its king content with squatting on a bail of straw. Made aware of their comments, Godefroi elucidated that “man must remember that he is only dust and will return to dust.”4

Godefroi had marched all the way to the Holy City on one principle: to liberate the Holy Sepulcher. Personal gain had not been his motivation. When presented with the title king of Jerusalem he politely refused to be crowned, accepting instead the alternative title Advocatus Sancti Sepulchri (defender of the Holy Sepulcher) and adopting the informal term princeps (first citizen). As he would later state, “I will never wear a crown of gold in the place where the Savior of the world was crowned with thorns.”5

Urban II, whose words had set these events in motion, for better or worse, would never learn of the developments taking place in Jerusalem, for he died barely two weeks after the siege ended and before news of it reached his ear.

Meanwhile, the indefatigable Godefroi de Bouillon made his way through the southern Gate of Sion and beyond the walls of Jerusalem, to a trail leading up a short incline to a limestone hill where, according to tradition, the Virgin Mary passed into eternity and her son performed the Last Supper. On this sacred space Godefroi observed the shell of a church, the Hagia Sion, the Byzantine Basilica of the Assumption. The dilapidated building was hardly fit for habitation, let alone a king, and its position beyond the protective walls of the city would make it hard to defend, if and when the Arab armies returned. Nevertheless, Godefroi took up residence. But he was not to live there alone, for he was promptly joined by a chapter of Augustinian canons,6 along with a religious icon in his own right, Peter the Hermit.7

It turns out that, far from being some moribund evangelist, Peter was regarded with great esteem, because shortly after the capture of Jerusalem the Crusaders embarked on another military campaign and left the monk temporarily in charge of the entire city. Peter the Hermit eventually returned to France to become prior of a church of the Holy Sepulcher, which he founded before entering into retirement near Huy, where he also founded a monastery.8 His contemporaries were not ungrateful, nor did they forget his contribution to the purer ideals of Christianity.

The faithful, dwellers at Jerusalem, who, four or five years before had seen the venerable Peter there, recognizing at that time in the same city him to whom the patriarch had committed letters invoking the aid of the princes of the West, bent the knee before him, and offered him their respects in all humility. They recalled to mind the circumstances of his first voyage; and they praised the Lord who had endowed him with effectual power of speech and with strength to rouse up nations and kings to bear so many and such long toils for love of the name of Christ. Both in private and in public all the faithful at Jerusalem exerted themselves to render to Peter the Hermit the highest honors, and attributed to him alone, after God, their happiness in having escaped from the hard servitude under which they had been for so many years groaning, and in seeing the holy city recovering her ancient freedom.9
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Godefroi de Bouillon.

Curiously, also taking up residence with Peter, Godefroi de Bouillon, and the canons in the tumbledown basilica was a further group of monks from Orval under the direction of an abbot.10 Somehow Godefroi’s odd choice of home on Mount Sion, along with Peter and the monks from Orval, had all the appearances of a premeditated agreement.
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THIRTY YEARS EARLIER. ORVAL. A TOWN DOWNRIVER FROM BOUILLON . . .

In 1070 a group of monks made their way from Calabria in southern Italy to Orval in Upper Lorraine, a grand adventure of 1,200 miles, and appeared on the doorstep of Mathilde de Toscane, Countess de Briey. The monks had come to take charge of a tract of land kindly granted by the countess and her husband.1

This graceful land had been a sacred place for centuries, and since at least the ninth century a chapel had stood there. Now it was the monks’ turn to leave their mark. They needed a quiet place to do their business and quickly set about building a monastery, thanks to the generosity of their new patrons.

It is a mystery why a group of monks—led by an individual named Ursus (Bear)—should have ventured so far in search of peace and tranquillity. It has been suggested they harbored secret scrolls and other long-suppressed material pertaining to ancient Mysteries, as well as evidence of records relating to a holy bloodline; indeed the land in and around Orval was once associated with a Merovingian bloodline. What is certain is the monks had recently escaped persecution in Jerusalem by sailing to Calabria and the safety of monasteries in Sicily, then made their way north via Burgundy and Champagne to meet with people who were friendly to whatever cause they harbored.2 Perhaps an examination of their patron, Mathilde de Toscanne, will present an answer.
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Mathilde was an Italian noblewoman and a fief of the comte de Champagne and, briefly, wife of Godefroi the Hunchback.3 She was also aunt and foster mother to a ten-year-old nephew who was himself of Merovingian descent and whose name was Godefroi.4 Some years later this exceptionally pious young man would inherit this land, become a knight, acquire the title de Bouillon, liberate the Church of the Holy Sepulcher, and be king of Jerusalem.

It takes quite an effort to erect a monastery, and yet less than forty years into its construction the monks at Orval just packed up their meager belongings and vanished as mysteriously as they’d appeared. Some say they departed for the Holy Land because their sect already possessed a church in Jerusalem. Indeed, this may be true, for the monks are said to have been associated with a certain Ordre de Sion—the namesake of the hill outside Jerusalem and its run-down basilica, which a grown-up Godefroi de Bouillon would call home after becoming protector of the city.

Of great interest is the identity of one of the original monks at Orval, a noble who renounced his worldly possessions to lead an ascetic life, a certain Peter the Hermit.5 Peter was a vassal of Eustache de Boulogne, who happened to be the father of Godefroi de Bouillon.6

When these two men met at Orval, Godefroi was a mere ten years of age. It is probable that Peter became a tutor to the impressionable young man, and if so, the monk’s view of the world must have imprinted itself on young Godefroi, given how their friendship remained true over the course of thirty years, right up to that fateful day when Godefroi’s crusading army picked Peter’s emaciated body up off the dirt road near Antioch.

The story sounds like a meticulously executed plan, perhaps because it is reasonable to assume it was. Various chroniclers and historians, both contemporary and modern, have suggested that a small, tight-knit enclave of highly influential people lay behind Godefroi’s initial motivation to march on Jerusalem to relieve the Holy Sepulcher of infidels, even in installing him as king; at one time this group may even have been involved with restoring the Merovingian bloodline in Lorraine.7 Albert of Aachen, a historian who traveled with the First Crusade, describes a small group of knights who were separate and close to Godefroi, whom he refers to as clientele Godefridi and domus Godefridi, consisting of clergymen and close relatives, quite possibly family.

All these connections converged in 1099 in a freshly reconquered Jerusalem.

It is said that Godefroi assisted a group of monks from Orval in taking up residence in the compound of holy buildings on Mount Sion, the high ground barely half a mile from the site of Solomon’s Temple, then installed an order of twelve knights to protect it.8 One account says of this, “There were in Jerusalem during the Crusades . . . knights attached to the Abbey of Notre Dame de Sion who took the name of Chevaliers de l’Ordre de Notre Dame de Sion.”9 The commune became known as Sainte-Marie du Mont Syon et du Saint-Esprit.10

But what was so special about Mount Sion—and its dilapidated church in particular—that drew so much attention that monks, knights, even the protector of Jerusalem himself chose it above all other domiciles, despite its exposed location? Were they simply paying homage to their faith, motivated by a promise in the Bible “You come to Mount Sion, to the city of the living God, the heavenly Jerusalem, and to an innumerable company of angels”?11

Indeed, the rock of Sion does receive an unusual amount of attention 
throughout the Bible, where it is regularly referred to as a stone that is 
overlooked during the building of the temple that must be retrieved and 
incorporated as the structure’s keystone.*1 This “precious cornerstone” of the New Jerusalem described in the Book of Isaiah12 is similarly identified in Islamic scholarship as the cornerstone of the Ka’Ba in Mecca13—the holiest of Muslim shrines—and by the prophet Mohammed, who refers to it as Sahyun.14 The origin of the word sion is related to the Arabic sahi (ascend to the top)15 a metaphor that suggests the hill is somehow associated with a process of rising, perhaps where the Mysteries of initiation and resurrection were conducted.

The Arabic interpretation is echoed in Jewish Kaballah, where the reference to Sion assumes an esoteric mantle as Tzion, a spiritual point from which all reality emerges. It is the center of existence, nay, the purpose of existence itself, the underlying goal of life. As Rabbi Heshy Grossman describes it, “There is a purpose and theme that unites all of creation. Just as the center of a sphere, which is the common point unifying every extremity on its surface, so too Tsion is the ‘Tachlis’ that all of life aspires to . . . and it has the power on earth to wake us from our stupor and remind us of Heaven.”16

The Byzantine basilica on Mount Sion stood on the site of an earlier community of Essenes who lived there during the era of John the Baptist and who granted Jesus the use of their ritual room in order for him to conduct his own ritual, the Last Supper. Following the destruction of the city in AD 68, a new sanctuary was erected. Emperor Hadrian saw the tiny building still intact during his visit to the city following the Roman rampage, and even by his time it was already referred to as the Mother of All Churches, built as it was over the tomb of King David and probably an even older temple.*217 By the fourth century this small church was enlarged into the Byzantine Hagia Sion, but in the waning and waxing political fortunes of subsequent centuries the honorable basilica inevitably fell into disrepair. It was its empty shell that Godefroi de Bouillon recycled when he expressly ordered the reconstruction of the new Abbey de Notre Dame. Interestingly, Godefroi made additions to the original floor plan. One room in particular was named the Chamber of Mysteries. It was supported on a foundation of eight pillars and built right above the tomb of King David, the room associated with the Last Supper.18
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Godefroi’s refurbished abbey became a self-contained community, heavily fortified, with high walls and battlements. Not only was it an unusual deviation from standard ecclesiastical building procedure, it also was totally out of character for a place of worship, as though the architect intended to keep something very secret. A place of veneration, after all, is supposed to beckon the faithful, not scream “go away!” Of all the real estate available to him in Jerusalem, Godefroi not only chose a property outside the city and in a state of total disrepair, he also picked one with a legacy of sacred space spanning at least two thousand years by his time. And now that we know the origin of events surrounding young Godefroi’s life in Orval, none of this appears to have been by accident: Peter the Hermit and a group of monks arrive from Calabria to build a monastery on land owned by Godefroi’s aunt, claim their seat to be the church on Mount Sion, and during their tenure there, become associated with the name Ordre de Sion.

One document goes so far as to claim the Ordre de Sion was founded in 1090 by Godefroi de Bouillon himself—six years before the Crusaders marched to Jerusalem—while another states the founding date as 1099.19 Depending on the point of view, both could be right. A plan may have been initially drawn up between Peter the Hermit, the Calabrian monks, and Godefroi, then executed nine years later thanks to the convenient timing of a Crusade marching on Jerusalem, which allowed for the city to become accessible once again to Christians.

If the Ordre de Sion was indeed an echo of a former sect with a long history on Mount Sion—the Essenes—changing circumstances and war would have rendered its corpus dormant for a thousand years, and in returning to Jerusalem the brotherhood was merely recovering its original place of veneration. By rebuilding the abbey Godefroi helped the brotherhood reestablish its long-lost physical domicile on that hill.

Whatever went on inside the abbey’s compound, it was conducted within a perimeter built more like a fortress than a church and pursued with utmost conviction, tenacity, and secrecy,20 as though the Ordre de Sion was engaged in some crucial yet undisclosed plan, to all intents and purposes behaving like a secret society pursuing a holy grail.

One of the alleged aims of the Ordre de Sion was to allow eligible Muslims, Jews, and people of other denominations to be allied to a Christian Order that in time would evolve into another equally secretive Order, the Knights Templar.21 Indeed, it is documented that the closeted brotherhood inhabiting the Abbey de Notre Dame du Mont de Sion did maintain close bonds with the future Templars, the relationship revealed in a ceremony performed at Gisors, France, eighty-eight years after Godefroi de Bouillon exercised his plan in Jerusalem.*322 And as we shall soon discover, the cooperation between these two brotherhoods became integral to the creation of a nation-state on the other side of the Mediterranean.

The Ordre de Sion had a second stated aim, and it involved the reestablishment of the Merovingian bloodline.23

The Merovingian bloodline is a messianic lineage of priest-kings, in the Egyptian and Sumerian tradition, whose history possesses near mythical status and claims direct descent from the Sicambrians, a branch of the Trojan royal family who settled along the river Danube and eventually in the area covered by the duchies of Lorraine and Flanders.24 Unlike created kings, their succession was automatic by virtue of hallowed appointment.25 Thei71r name stems from merovie or meruvie, meaning “sea of life” or “source of life,”26 and as such, their kings were considered vessels of a sacred water that was transmitted down a lineage of priest-kings known as the People of the Bear. Their practices were similar to those of the Druids, Sumerian magi, even early Nazarites; like the Celts of Porto Cale they followed the goddess Anu. They were regarded as highly spiritual people, teachers, and healers; they were well versed in the esoteric sciences, and possessed clairvoyant ability. Their principal interests were education, agriculture, and maritime trade, and their belief in wisdom, insight, and the divine harmony in nature was represented by their adopted symbol, the bee—the same sacred emblem of ancient Egyptian and Sumerian royalty.
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